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Introduction  

This report goes far beyond previous archaeological studies of this historic site, attempting not only to 

report on artifacts left behind in this area but also to forensically determine the entire layout and purpose 

of the various areas of Camp Meyers Spring over the many years of its occupation.   When we started, 

we had no idea of the enormity of this project.  It is now a three-year project.  We use a technique 

known in military terms as fusion analysis.  We combine all sources to tell the most detailed story 

possible for this camp and its many occupants.   

The primary key to the project's success was the analysis of satellite and drone imagery.  By analyzing 

this imagery, along with extensive military records, the diary of Lieutenant French, artifact GPS 

mapping, and ground reconnaissance, we uncovered a multi-layered story encompassing multiple 

military units with diverse missions and occupying various locations. To our surprise, we also 

discovered that a cattle company had been intertwined with the military for a period, leasing the land 

while the military occupied it, making the analysis even more complex and layered.   



 

Metal detection and GPS mapping has been a crucial factor in the project's success.  It enabled us to 

discover artifacts previously overlooked by other studies and helped validate the identification of the 

occupying units and their objectives.  We used our skills and understanding of this particular period in 

history, built up from 17 years of field experience, as well as our military knowledge of tactics and 

strategies, to tell not only what we found but what we believe it meant in the story of the units and men 

making this camp their temporary home for their deployments from the 1870s to 1884.  Because the 

landowner requested this study to aid in understanding the camp, we used standard units of measurement 

throughout the report rather than metric units.  
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A Brief History  

Camp Meyers Spring was a military sub-post of Fort Clark, officially in operation from 1881 to 1884.  

The earliest official Fort Clark post report that can be loosely tied to 

Camp Meyers Spring as a base camp is from December 1877.  At that 

time four companies and the Black Seminole Scout Detachment were 

based prior to and after an expedition into Mexico to hunt for Indians 

that Lieutenant Bullis and his Indian scouts had trailed and been 

ambushed weeks prior.  In July 1880, Fort Clark post reports state that 

Lieutenant Bullis and 34 Seminole Indian Scouts left Fort Clark and 

were listed on ñdetached service west of the Pecos River.ò  This 

reporting repeated each month until mid-January 1881, when Bullis and 

his Scouts returned to the post. At that point, Lieutenant Bullis prepared 

for a military duty transfer and was relieved of his duties as commander 

of the Scouts.    

Lieutenant Bullis and the Seminole Negro Indian Scout Detachment (official name) was probably 

occupying Camp Meyers Spring with as a forward camp of operations for scouting patrols from around 

1875 when the scouts began their patrols as an independent mounted detachment.   

 
First look at Meyers Spring (painting by Mike Capron) 

We know that the cavalry units were aware of and had been using this area long before it was officially 

designated as a military sub-post.  As we will show, at least one unit conducted reconnaissance at this 

location as early as 1873.  We also obtained an official military map from the National Archives, 

indicating that the military was familiar with this site as far back as 1876, at that time called Painted 

Rock Spring.    Finally, graffiti at the pictograph site indicates that cavalry and infantry units camped 



 

there from Fort McKavett and Fort Clark as far back as 1877.  Bullis purchased the land from the 

railroad in May 1877 (see Appendix D).  

 
1876 military map indicated Painted Rock Spring, later renamed Mayer(s) Spring, currently Meyers Spring 

Location 

Camp Meyers Spring is 18 miles west of the Pecos River and 18 miles north of the Rio Grande River.  It 

is the best clean-water camping location in the Lower Pecos River area.   

 
Meyers Spring Basin 



 

Although the detachment was listed as a scouting detachment belonging to an infantry company, first 

under the 24th, later under the 22nd and 19th Infantry Regiments, Lieutenant Bullis commanded the 

scouts as a fighting cavalry unit.  They were credited with over 27 field deployments and 12 

engagements against hostile raiders, with hundreds of horses and cattle returned to their owners in 

Texas.  Their interdiction of raiding parties had devastating consequences for the raiders they 

encountered.   

The period of Lieutenant John L. Bullis and his 27 deployments, some of which took him into Mexico, 

effectively halted the raiding from Mexico. As a result, Camp Meyers Spring became a strategic 

stronghold of military presence, with continued patrolling to detect any Indians with thoughts of either 

raiding into Mexico or from Mexico into Texas.  Scouting patrols continued on a significantly reduced 

schedule as reports of raiding parties became increasingly scarce.   

The first confirmed deployment by the Scout detachment to Camp Meyers Spring was after Lieutenant 

Bullis was transferred in July 1881.  This marked the beginning of a series of second lieutenants serving 

as temporary commanders.  The first to take over was Second Lieutenant Frank B. Jones, who ordered 

the unit to be detached to ñCamp Mayers Spring.ò  This deployment began on August 20, 1881, and 

lasted three and a half months.  From that point, a series of rotating deployments began between the 

Seminole Scout detachment and regular cavalry units.   

The records indicate that Company A of the 1st Infantry Regiment assumed command of the camp in 

September 1880, retaining control until April 1881.  From September through January 16, 1881, 

Lieutenant Bullis and his Scouts were listed as being on ñdetached service west of the Pecos.ò  

Therefore, it is possible that they were at this location at the same time.  The 1st Infantry Regiment was 

transferred on special orders from Fort Randall, South Dakota, to the Department of Texas in June 1880. 

Three of the six companies were tasked with building a road through the Lower Pecos region to Fort 

Davis, Texas.  These companies were initially set up at the mouth of the Pecos River. (Wright)   Two 

others were sent to Fort Sam Houston and Fort Ringgold.  Company Aôs primary mission was to build a 

wagon-accessible road from the camp down to the main springs.  This was needed for future 

deployments to bring water up from the springs.  Company Aôs personnel rosters indicated they were 

severely undermanned during this time.  They usually had only 25 to 30 men for duty at any one time.  

However, they did list five to six teamsters and a blacksmith contracted in September and October.  In 

November, they added a stonemason.   

After completing their road construction, 1st Regiment companies were folded into the 22nd Infantry 

Regiment and distributed to Forts Davis, Clark, Stockton, Ringgold, and Sam Houston.  Upon departure, 

Company A was transferred first to Fort McKavett and subsequently to Fort Davis. (Fort Clark Post 



 

Returns)  There are no records of any infantry companies to replace them or occupy the camp from then 

on.  Only the 8th Cavalry companies or the Black Seminole Scout detachment were listed as occupying 

the camp during their rotations through the area. This was their base camp for patrolling.   

Records indicate Company H, 8th Cavalry, took over the camp in May 1881 after Company A, 1st 

Infantry Regiment, departed.  A rotation of cavalry companies continued for six months.  During the 

first three months, the scouts were not in camp.   

In early 1882, the camp was only occupied for a few short trips by small units of scouts.  In May, a 

rotation of cavalry Troops began, lasting six months.  The scouts were not in camp with the cavalry 

Troops, and from that point on, the camp was only occupied by the 8th Cavalry or Seminole Scout 

detachments separately.  This supports that the Seminole Scout detachment was being used as its own 

cavalry patrol unit instead of acting as scouts for the deployed cavalry troops. A complete listing of 

units occupying the camp can be found in Appendix C.   

The Black Seminole Indian Scout Detachment was deployed to the Mouth of the Pecos from May 

through August 1882 while railroad construction made its way slowly from the east.  During this time, 

Camp Meyers Spring was occupied by companies of the 8th Cavalry.  Their rotations lasted through 

October 1883.  In November, the Scouts took over the camp again for a six-month deployment.  The 

railroad was completed near the mouth of the Pecos River in January 1883.  The camp began to wind 

down with shorter rotations for both Cavalry and Scouts in late 1883 and 1884, but continued until July 

16, 1884, when it was officially closed.  

Camp Layout 

Camp Meyers Spring was essentially seven separate camp areas.  These are an early infantry camp, two  

Black Seminole Indian Scout camps, and four cavalry camp areas.  Three of the cavalry areas were 

overflow camps for when multiple companies might be there at the same time.  These camps were all 

occupied at different times.  Cavalry area #1 was the main cavalry area for deployed troops.  Cavalry 

areas 2, 3, and 4 were occupied at various times by other cavalry units, usually from Fort Clark, but also 

from Fort Concho (San Angelo), or Fort Mckavett (near Menard), Fort Stockton, or even Fort Davis.   

This was a substantial camp. Although portions were not often occupied, the total camp area covers 

around 35 acres, 45 acres if we include all outlying guard posts.  The infantry camp covered around four 

acres.  The cavalry area #1, with the flanking guard posts, covered around 5 acres.  The remaining three 

overflow camps covered around 20 acres.  When Seminole Scouts were in camp, they occupied only 

about one and a half acres, including the corral.  The early Seminole Scoutôs camp covered 



 

approximately four acres, including their picket and grazing area.  This camp lies just outside and to the 

east of the rear portion of Cavalry Camp #1.  It is described in detail later in this report. 

There was an extensive ring of guard posts, most of which were placed by the infantry company during 

its construction period at the camp.  The cavalry guard post locations differed from those of the earlier 

infantry.  The cavalry guard posts were set up as two on each side to protect the flanks of the camp. 

The average number of soldiers present when a cavalry company occupied the camp was approximately 

60.  According to Fort Clark post returns, the number of Black Seminole Indian Scouts varied between 

35 and 40 men at any time when they were in camp.  The camp's highest deployment during its official 

operation was in the fall of 1881, with two cavalry troops and the scouts in camp at the same time.  That 

was probably around 157 soldiers.  That means there were approximately the same number of horses 

and probably 12 ï 16 mules. There were two cavalry troops together again in the fall of 1882. 

In addition to freighting supplies from Fort Clark, additional supplies and forage for horses and mules 

were provided by contract with the Torres Farm in Langtry.  This was a 45-mile wagon drive for the 

freighters.  They provided hay once per week.  In December 1883, it was noted that 50 tons of hay were 

on hand at the corral.  The Torres brothersô farm also supplied poultry, pork, and vegetables when 

requested.  Additional food was acquired through hunting, a skill in which the scouts excelled at. 

 
Entire site with GPS pins of important artifact/feature locations 

In addition to the main camps area, there were two outlying squad-size water collection camps for 

cavalry in 1883 and 1884.  One camp was located above the main spring basin, where the water was 



 

freshly running out of the springs.  It consisted of a detachment of men dedicated solely to collecting 

water and transporting it by wagon to the main camp.  Both water collection camps were about a mile 

from the main camp area.  One was just above the main spring basin.  The second up the canyon 500 

yards north of the main spring basin.  

A Question Of The Name 

The name of this camp and spring has long been a mystery. Initially, it was called Paint Rock Spring, 

documented in an 1877 scouting report by Captain S.B.M. Young, 8th Cavalry (Young), an 1879 Fort 

Concho scouting report, and an 1879 scouting report by Lieutenant Maxon, 10th Cavalry.  We know this 

was the correct location identified because Captain Frederick E. Phelps was on the same campaign as 

Captain Young, and in his 1950 memoirs, he gave the location name as Myers Spring.  (Phelps, 

Appendix G)  There are many theories as to how it became Meyers Spring, and we explored each of 

them.  Lieutenant Bullis was both the property owner and the one who convinced the military to use the 

property as a sub-post for the patrols required in the Lower Pecos region.  Thus, the name likely 

originated from his reporting of it to the military.  The military consistently reported it as Mayer(s) 

Spring(s) from that point on.  We checked every ranching family, explorer, Black Seminole Indian 

Scout, pictograph wall graffiti, and military name that was ever in this area during the 1870s period or 

earlier.  None match up to a name, first or last, of Mayer, Meyer, or Myer.  In particular, we reviewed 

Mayer Halff, a large rancher in West Texas, with a focus on the Big Bend region.  However, there is no 

indication that he ever had any interest in the land east of the current town of Marathon or in the water 

source that became known as Pena Colorado Spring, located just south of town.  Given that this research 

yielded negative results, a new theory emerged.  And that is, it may not be a name at all.   

The Black Seminole Indian Scouts came out of Mexico, and all spoke Spanish.  Many did not speak 

English at all, especially in the early days.  Even in Lieutenant Frenchôs 1883 diary, he mentioned that 

most could not read or write.  The closest word we can find to Mayer in Spanish is ómayor,ô translated as 

óbiggest,ô ólargest,ô or ómain.ô  This may have been the name chosen by the scouts - ótinaja mayorô 

meaning largest or main spring - and the one Bullis took back with him in his report to the military.  

When transliterated by military clerks, it may have been written in reports as Mayer(s) Spring.  We 

assume that over the years, it somehow evolved into the alternative spelling of Meyers Spring.  Since 

Bullis never reported his choice of name, this theory will probably never be proven, but we think it is the 

best theory at this point. 



 

 
Meyers Spring Basin 

John Lapham Bullis 

 

Although raised as a Quaker, John Bullis was drawn to a military career.  His opportunity came one year 

into the Civil War.  He enlisted in August 1862, on his 21st birthday, and was mustered into service as a 

corporal with Company H of the 126th New York Volunteer Infantry Regiment.  The unit was quickly 

sent into the fight in Virginia.  He saw some of the worst fighting of the Civil War.  On September 15th, 

1862, at Harpers Ferry, he was wounded and captured, along with 12,700 other Union soldiers.  



 

Probably due to the extraordinary number of prisoners, they were sent to a parole camp in Annapolis, 

Maryland, the day after their surrender.  (126th New York Infantry Regiment)   

A parole camp was a place where Union or Confederate soldiers on parole were kept by their side in a 

non-combat role. They could be restored to a combat role only if prisoners of war were traded to the 

other side, enabling them to return to combat in exchange for the newly freed prisoners of war. (Parole 

Camp) 

 

Bullis soon rejoined his unit after a prisoner swap.  However, not long after rejoining, he ended up in the 

bloody Battle of Gettysburg.  He was again wounded and captured by Confederate forces, this time 

spending three grueling months in the infamous Libby Prison before again being sent to the parole camp 

in Annapolis.  Bullis passed an officer commissioning examination during his second tenure at the 

Annapolis Parole Camp.  On August 17, 1864, he was commissioned as a captain in the 118th Regiment 

of the United States Colored Infantry.  The 118th was transferred to the Dutch Gap Canal building 

project. (Wallace)  The canal project aimed to allow ships to bypass the loop of the James River around 

Farrar's Island, Virginia, which was controlled by Confederate batteries.  (Dutch Gap Canal) 



 

 
118th Colored Infantry Regt 

Bullis was discharged at the war's end but reenlisted in the regular army a few years later as a second 

lieutenant.  On September 3, 1867, he returned to Texas, where he had been discharged and where his 

Civil War regiment had been stationed for Reconstruction duty following the war's end. (Tate)  They 

were now the 41st Infantry Regiment.   

In 1869, the 41st and 38th Infantry Regiments were combined into the 24th Infantry Regiment and 

reassigned to Fort McKavett as their headquarters.  Bullis went with them into the Texas frontier.  Bullis 

distinguished himself in several skirmishes near Fort McKavett, 

but the 24th Infantry was primarily used to escort and protect 

stagecoach stations or work on construction projects.  When the 

opportunity arose to take command of the newly formed Black 

Seminole Indian Scouts at Fort Duncan on the Rio Grande, Bullis 

volunteered, knowing he would be back in the saddle, doing what 

he did best ï leading horse soldiers against Indian raiders.  Those 

horse soldiers were now going to be the Indian scouts.   

                                                                                                                                                              24th Infantry Regt 

As Bullis took command of half the Black Seminole Indian Scout Detachment in 1873, the clash 

between western expansion and Native American Indians was exploding all across the Texas-Mexico 

border.  The Mescalero Apache were jumping their New Mexico reservation and raiding throughout 

West Texas and down to the border.  The Lipan Apache and Kickapoo were raiding up from Mexico 

into South Texas.  Livestock were stolen from ranches and cattle drives, stagecoaches were attacked, 

and any emigrant wagon trains heading west were easy targets of opportunity.  The pressure in 

Washington, D.C., to take action was intense. 

Colonel Ranald S. Mackenzie was one of the few on the North Texas frontier who had successfully 

taken the fight to the Comanche in 1871 and 1872.  Due to his success, he was transferred, along with 



 

the 4th Cavalry Regiment, to Fort Clark in 1873, with orders to halt the raids originating from Mexico, 

using whatever means necessary.  Those orders came directly from the President of the United States, 

Ulysses S. Grant.  The orders were considered so important and sensitive that they were delivered in 

person to Colonel Mackenzie at Fort Clark by the Secretary of War, William Belknap, and General 

Philip Sheridan. 

Colonel Mackenzie knew Lieutenant Bullis from their time together in the 41st, later the 24th Infantry 

Regiment, also known as the "Buffalo Soldiers."  He ordered Bullis to get the Black Seminole Indian 

Scouts ready to lead a secret large-force movement into Mexico to deal a blow to the Lipan and 

Kickapoo on their home ground.  This became the now infamous Remolino Raid, 40 miles inside 

Mexico. (Hamilton, Sobota)  Bullis and his Scouts were credited with successfully leading this large 

force through uncharted mountainous territory to the objective and returning safely.  

Bullis and his Scouts continued patrolling out of Fort Duncan for the next few years, leading larger 

forces under Colonel Mackenzie.  Mackenzie transferred him and the Fort Duncan Scouts to Fort Clark 

in 1874.  He promoted Bullis to first lieutenant, gave him complete command of the consolidated Black 

Seminole Indian Scout Detachment, and authorized him to conduct patrols independently with the full 

detachment. 

 
Black Seminole Indian Scouts 

The Earliest Cavalry And Scouts To Meyers Spring 

We found a rock redoubt 240 yards west of the main spring basin, situated on a rock shelf overlooking 

the main spring basin and pictograph area.  A redoubt is a semi-circular stack of rocks, typically built for 

guard positions.  This is a highly unusual place to find one.  All other redoubts were found either 

protecting the infantry or cavalry camps on the flat terrain.  This one looks right down on the spring 



 

basin by the pictograph wall.  It is situated at the base of a rocky slope that leads up to the top of the 

plateau.  This appears to have been a reconnaissance overwatch position of the spring basin area.  An 

overwatch position is a position to spy on an area being used by enemy forces, in this case, potential 

Indian raiding parties.  Military reconnaissance units are typically small and operate under orders to 

remain undetected.  They report back to the main headquarters on the results of their reconnaissance.   

Over an area of about half an acre, we found a scattering of Sharps carbine 50-45 and 50-55 cartridges.  

The Sharps carbine was one of the two early cavalry rifles used from 1866 until the transition to the 

Springfield Trapdoor carbine in late 1873.  The later Springfield Trapdoor carbine used the 45-55 

ammunition.      

The 50-70 is the more well-known Sharps cartridge, but it had its own shorter carbine version of 50-55, 

similar to the later Springfield Trapdoor 45-55.  It was identified as 50/55/430.  It had the same casing, 

but 55 vs 70 grains of powder and a 430 vs 450 grain bullet (Cartridge Collector's Exchange).  Similar to 

the later 45-55 cartridges, we found, they were not stamped.  Most were Benet internally primed, but we 

also have one that is an external Remington primed but still unstamped.  There is no external way to 

distinguish between the higher grain 50-70 cartridges.   

The shorter 50-45 Carbine 'Cadet' was tested by the military in the early 1870s for cavalry carbines.  

These cartridges were found in a relatively small bounded area, along with a single dropped 56-50 

Spencer cartridge.   

In addition, we found one dropped Spencer 56-50 cartridge, two 44 caliber lead balls directly across the 

canyon from where these other cartridges were found.  One hundred thirty yards further to the west, we 

found four Smith & Wesson .44 cartridges.  This was at the end of a draw and likely a grazing area for 

their horses. 

Halfway between the redoubt and the spot where the 44 S&W cartridges were found, we discovered a 

military coat button.  Analysis from the Fort Concho curator, an expert in military buttons, provided the 

following assessment: ñThe presence of two stars indicates a Civil War backmark, which could mean 

that it was used into the early to mid-1870s as surplus.ò  This area features a natural rock shelf around 

the base of the hill, providing an easy walking path between the two areas 



 

.       
Button found between redoubt and 44 S&W cartridges 

Two stars are a Civil War (1861 ς 1865) backmark, which means it was used into the early-to-mid 1870s as CW 
surplus. 

         
          56-50 (top) 50-45 Carbine (left) 50/55/430 Carbine (right)                 Military Redoubt Guard Post 

 



 

 
General Area of Early Overwatch Camp 

The sloped area where the 50-caliber cartridges were found had no tent or camp platforms.  We 

discovered their camping area 450 yards away, around the mesa, and in a draw.  We identified the camp 

through more 50-45 cartridges and a heavy stake placed along a small creek bed and just below a spring 

drainage.  We believe this was for a picket line.  The limited space available for a camp in this draw 

suggests that this patrol was probably a detachment rather than an entire company.  The 50-45 cartridges 

were found behind what would have been the picket line and on the limited level ground.  

 
Probable In-Ground Picket Line Stake 



 

 
Cavalry Camping Area 

This was a well-chosen location for a stealthy reconnaissance of the spring basin.  Likely, some of the 

earliest Fort Clark Black Seminole Indian Scouts from Fort Clark led this unit.     

Based on the Sharps 50-55/50-45 cartridges, the Smith & Wesson .44 cartridges, the Colt .44 cartridges, 

and two .44 revolver balls, we assess that this patrol was probably a Fort Clark cavalry detachment on 

patrol.  The dropped Spencer cartridge could have come from the Black Seminole Scouts, who were 

initially issued Spencer carbines.  (Guinn)  

The 4th Cavalry Regiment arrived at Fort Clark in early 1873.  The quarterly armament report from 

August shows one company matches the combination of weapon artifacts found at this location. (4th 

Cavalry)  During this time, all arms were undergoing a transition process to test the best options for 

future use.  This presents a strong probability that a detachment from one of the 4th Cavalry companies 

was the reconnaissance unit at this site.  During this period, half of the Black Seminole Indian Scouts 

were assigned to Fort Clark and likely served as scouts for patrols in the region.  This would have been 

before Lieutenant Bullis moved to Fort Clark and took command of the Fort Clark Scouts in 1874.   

This marks the earliest known period of military activity at Meyers Spring.  The 4th Cavalry began 

changing to the Springfield Trapdoor carbines with 45-55 ammunition in the third quarter of 1873 and 

were fully transitioned by the first quarter of 1874.    



 

Lieutenant Bullis and the Early Black Seminole Indian Scout Camp 

The first weapon artifact found in the area and pointing directly to the Black Seminole Indian Scouts 

was a dropped 44 Colt cartridge.  This precedes all the other cartridges contemporaneous with the 

official camp period.  Colt's Patent Firearms developed the 44 Colt cartridge for use in cartridge 

revolvers based on the 1860 Army percussion revolver. The cartridge was briefly adopted by the United 

States Army around 1871. The Army used it until 1873, when it was replaced by the better-known and 

more powerful 45 Colt cartridge used in the Colt Single Action Army revolver.  According to the 

weapons issuing document for the second quarter of 1873 (Appendix F), the Fort Clark cavalry were 

still carrying the 44 Colt.  Some were even carrying the cap-and-ball version.  However, they 

transitioned to the 45 Schofield soon thereafter.  The Black Seminole Indian Scouts were provided with 

used uniforms and older weaponry when they began their enlistment contracts in 1872.  Lieutenant 

Bullis took over the Fort Clark Scouts in 1876.  They were likely issued the older 44 Colt revolvers, and 

this cartridge was probably accidentally dropped during one of those early periods patrolling out of 

Meyers Spring.   

Three lead bullets were found within what we believe was the early scout camp, and these point directly 

to Lieutenant Bullis and the scouts' early period at Meyers Spring.  

These are revolver bullets of 44 caliber.  The only military that 

would have been carrying 44-caliber revolvers before the official 

creation of the camp was Lieutenant Bullis and the Scouts.  They 

would have been the last ones to convert to the 45-caliber Scofield 

found in all the other cavalry camp areas.  Additionally, we found 

from the guard posts that the 1st Infantry Regimentôs Company A 

was carrying the 45 Colt, based on cartridges found in their camping 

area.  Two of the 44 caliber bullets at the early Bullis camp received 

minor rounded, blunt trauma, indicating an accidental discharge into 

the ground.  Early Colt revolvers were well known for this accidental 

discharge problem.                                                Black Seminole Indian Scout with Cartridge Belt Holster 

Both bullets measure out in size and weight to be 44 Colt.  Thus, we believe the scouts all carried 44 

Colt revolvers before the later official camp period.  The minor blunt trauma indicates a discharge 

directly into the ground, which helps define this site as the location of the discharge rather than some 

other location as the originating firing point. 



 

          
 Dug Up Colt 44 Cartridge and example 

Meyers Spring was likely one of the early discoveries by the Black Seminole Indian Scouts. Lieutenant 

Bullis made it his primary forward base of operation long before the area became an official military 

camp.  This early Scout camp is located slightly separate from the later official camp.   

As we determined from the later official camp, the Black Seminole Indian Scout camp is laid out in a 

semi-circular fashion, upholding the Seminole Indian tradition.  This camp was first revealed in the 

same manner as the other camps.  The ground splotching in the 2015 imagery is visible in front of tent 

locations.  This camp must have been used repeatedly, with the tents set up at the same places over 

many patrols to this site.  They were using it as a forward-operating base camp long before the official 

main camp was created.   

The tent placements are like the semi-circle found at the later period Black Seminole scout camp.  

Additionally, the inner and outer rings, unique to that camp, are also in the layout for this camp.  The 

inner ring was likely the sergeantôs tents, with lower-ranking soldiers in the outer rings.  The 

commander was placed in the middle of the circle.  There are 20 tent sites, plus one central tent.  At two 

men per tent, this matches Bullisô reported detachment manning of 37 - 40 scouts.   

Our metal detecting had limited positive findings in this area, but enough to support the camp analysis. 

Much of the metal can trash was being dumped in a nearby ravine.  Findings in one particular area just 

outside the circle of tent sites indicated it was probably a wagon unloading area.  This is based on in-

ground supply box nails, tin can pieces, and horseshoe nails.   

Additionally, the wagon trace can be seen in the imagery leading up to this area and stopping, which 

means they did it precisely the same way every time they brought the wagon in to establish the camp.  

This would be the reason the trace is still visible.   

Although surface trash could not be used to be definitive to this site, we found several tent sites with in-

ground, unused horseshoe nails next to tent sites.  Cavalry soldiers were required to carry spare 

horseshoes and could reshod their mounts while on patrol.  In between the two sites, we found a buried 



 

fire striker, which was a site-specific artifact.  Until the invention of the friction match, flint and steel 

were used as common methods of fire ignition.                                                                                                                                           

The camp sits at the flat's eastern edge, in front of the only easy draw that leads down into the canyon 

that then leads down to the main spring.  This is a logical place to set up a patrol camp where, at the 

time, wagons could not make it all the way to the spring.  This is why Company A, 1st Infantry, was 

brought in from February to April 1881 to create a wagon-capable road to the spring.   

Near the wagon parking area of this camp is an unusual three-sided ground scaring in the imagery that 

forms a rectangle.  This looks very much like a possible kitchen/dining area.  The area is 15 X 30 feet, 

which would be correct for two square dining fly tent covers.  This would explain the man-made 

rectangular disturbance in that area. 

Finally, all three 44 caliber bullets we believe were from accidental discharge were found within the 

camp area.  As stated earlier, the 44 Colt was known for accidental discharge if the hammer was over a 

loaded chamber.  The bullets were blunted as if fired directly into the soft ground.   

Four pieces of Ironstone dishware were the most significant artifacts in this area.  Two of the pieces had 

the makerôs mark on them, and we could identify the manufacturer and probable year.  It was made by a 

well-known potterôs family in England, which produced many items for shipment to America.  That was 

J&G Meakin and Co.  An identical dish and markerôs mark we found in our research is stamped 1868.  

The makerôs mark changed from year to year, giving us confidence that the year of 1868 is 

representative of this dish.  The pieces were found just 30 feet away from what appears to have been the 

kitchen/dining area and next to the stopping point of a wagon track, making that a loading/unloading 

area.     

Wagons were used by cavalry units coming into this area for this forward operating camp.  With these 

dish pieces next to the camp and a probable wagon unloading spot, we can safely speculate that the only 

person who might have such a set of personal dishes would be Lieutenant Bullis. Although only a 

lieutenant, Bullis married into a family of wealth, which was how he could purchase this and many other 

sections of land in the Lower Pecos region. 

With a wagon unloading area within feet of these dish pieces, it is reasonable that this type of item could 

be a personal luxury being carried to this location.  We have seen other cases where unit commanders 

brought these personal luxury items on long patrols.   



 

 
Ironstone Dish Pieces 

 

J&G Meakin Ironstone Dish with 1868 stamp (example) 

A nearby knoll 135 yards north of the Bullis camp is covered with Chino Grama grass and is very likely 

where the Black Seminole Indian Scout detachment picketed their horses while at this camp.  It is still 

the heaviest concentration of Chino Grama grass in the area.  From the USDA: ñCattle, horses, sheep, 

and goats graze Chino Grama. Sometimes limited amounts are harvested for hay. It is an important 

conservation grass because it is adapted to sites on which few other species will grow.ò 



 

 
Knoll covered with Chino Grama and a long line of horseshoe nails in the center 

We found a straight line of used and unused horseshoe nails in the center of the knoll that measured 150 

feet.  Picket ropes (lariats) were measured out to 30-foot sections.  Tied together, that is five ropes.  For 

40 horses, plus eight mules, there would be 24 animals on each side of the picket line, giving them just 

under 7 feet of picket line each.  This would work for a night picket.  They could turn them loose in the 

day or possibly hobble them in the one-acre knoll.  The knoll makes a natural corral, with rocky slopes 

around 90 percent of the area.   

The book óHistory of the Ninth New York Cavalryô by Newell Cheney gives a good picture of the 

standard way to feed horses.  ñNo sooner had the picket ropes been stretched and the horses been 

unsaddled and hitched, when the men hurried to an adjacent field of wheat, ready cut and bound, and 

brought enough to feed the horses liberallyéò (Cheney) 

This quote describes the standard way that cavalry fed their horses when not on the march. They would 

ñStretch the ropesò and then manually cut enough hay for their mount. Other similar accounts of this 

being the case can be found throughout other first-hand sources of federal cavalry of the period.  It also 

makes sense that all shoeing would be done while on the picket rope line.  In addition to the horseshoe 

nails, we found two saddle horse shoes ï one near the picket area and one within the grazing area.                                                                                                                     



 

 

Saddle horseshoe found in grazing knoll 

We found five expended revolver cartridges on this hill.  Three were 10.4mm Italian Revolver, and two 

were 44 Smith & Wesson Russian.  The 10.4mm Italian was developed for the 1874 Service Revolver.  

It is similar to the 44 S&W Russian. (Barnes) This indicates that testing was being done with these two 

types of ammunition for the 44 Schofield revolver.  Two of the 10.4mm were severely split.  One 44 

S&W was partially split in the test fire.  The .44 S&W was the most popular cartridge of its day.  A 

theory is that Lieutenant Bullis was testing the 44 Schofield revolver, while the scouts were all issued 

the 44 Colt Revolver. 

 

An additional find in a nearby gully supports this being an active forward-operating camp.  We found a 

dump of blacksmithing items approximately 80 yards from this grouping of tents.  There were no wagon 

roads to this location, meaning the trash was walked out to this location and dumped.  As with the later 

Black Seminole Indian Scout camp, there would have been a blacksmithing operation for this forward-

operating camp.  A unique item among these left-over pieces was a piece of forge slag. A blacksmith 

would have required a portable forge.   



 

           

               Blacksmithing dump items     Portable period-correct forge (example) 

 

Slag from mobile forge 

The First Official Unit: The Infantry Camp 

Company A, 1st Infantry Regiment, was brought in to cut a wagon road down to the main spring.  The 

camp was broken down into four main areas: command compound, corral, infantry tent area, and 

perimeter guard posts.  

Command Compound: The command compound sits right next to the modern ranch road, off the 

northeast corner of the stone ranch house.  The key to understanding the compound is the first light-

colored ground splotches in the 2015 satellite imagery.  These splotches are heavily traveled areas into 

and out of tents.  With this understanding, we can determine the tent layouts around the central 

rectangular open area of the command section, which was essentially an assembly pad.  The original 

infantry command compound consisted of the captainôs tent, a doctorôs tent, a hospital tent, two 

lieutenantôs tents, a first sergeantôs tent, and a command dining tent.  These tents were set up around the 

30 X 50 foot rectangular assembly/formation pad.  This open area would have been an assembly area 



 

when the commander needed to address the troops in a formation.  This is a common design to this day 

for military field command compounds.  The pad could hold a formation of about 60 men, the size of a 

company at that time.   

                             

Probable Command Compound with Assembly/Formation Pad (Google Earth) 

Most command officers would have a Type 1 Officerôs Wall Tent (10'6"w x 11'2"l x 7'h w/45" wall).  

However, the hospital tent would be larger (14'w x 14'l x 11'h w/45" wall).  Lieutenants would have a 

Type 2 Officers Wall Tent (8'9"w x 8'6"l x 8'6"h w/45" wall).  Sergeants would have a Shelter Half Tent 

(67"w X 66"h).  The command dining tent would probably be a Type 1 Wall Tent. (19th Century) 

 
                                               OfficerΩs Wall Tent        (Examples)        Hospital Tent 

Behind the command compound and the officerôs dining tent was a probable camp mess tent.  This was a 

much larger tent (35 X 20).  There is heavy scarring leading into this tent area.  In between the officersô 

dining tent and camp mess tent was probably a common kitchen tent.   

Corral:  The infantry corral was constructed between the enlisted tent area and the command compound.  

The ground-scared area is approximately 130 X 60 feet.  A good indicator of this area being the corral 

are wagon tracks leading into and out of the corral (most visible in a 2014 satellite image below).  In the 

2008 Texas Tech reconnaissance, several horse and mule shoe fragments were collected from the 

southeast corner of this area.  After the infantry company departed, this area continued to be used by the 



 

Black Seminole Indian Scout detachment, which referred to it as the ñstablesò in Lieutenant Frenchôs 

diary. 

  
Infantry/ Seminole Corral with Wagon Road Annotated 

Behind the command compound and the officerôs dining tent was a probable camp mess tent.  This was a 

much larger tent (35 X 20).  There is heavy scarring leading into this tent area.  In between the officersô 

dining tent and camp mess tent was probably a common kitchen tent.   

Corral:  The infantry corral was constructed between the enlisted tent area and the command compound.  

The ground-scared area is approximately 130 X 60 feet.  A good indicator of this area being the corral 

are wagon tracks leading into and out of the corral (most visible in a 2014 satellite image below).  In the 

2008 Texas Tech reconnaissance, several horse and mule shoe fragments were collected from the 

southeast corner of this area.  After the infantry company departed, this area continued to be used by the 

Black Seminole Indian Scout detachment, which referred to it as the ñstablesò in Lieutenant Frenchôs 

diary. 

The corral area is the most confusing area to understand because it has remnants of four stone features 

within the confines of what would have been the corral fencing, initially constructed by Company A.  Of 

those four features, two were probably related to the original corral, and two were from the post-military 

period and related to the Pecos Land And Cattle Company.  The remnants of a small stone building, 

which is the farthest west, is very visibly constructed professionally, with double-stacked cut stones.  

According to Lieutenant French's diary, the first two constructions in the area were for the cattle 

companyôs contracted stone mason and carpenterôs quarters and the Lougee family.  The first stone 

structure was located just east of the main house, now along the ranch road.  Although it was well built 



 

of cut stones, it appears to have been put together quickly, which is what the diary said.  We believe the 

two stone buildings within the former corral area were additional construction for the cattle company 

after the military departed.  The other two remnants of wall features within the corral area were probably 

from the original military occupation.  Most of the stones from the original military walls were 

repurposed for the more crudely constructed stone structure, probably another laborerôs quarters for the 

cattle company.  This building was within feet of the two previous infantry company wall structures. 

The wagon trace revealed in satellite imagery shows it drove into the corral and made a right turn to a 

turnaround.  It could then drive right next to the circle with the depression.  Or the wagon could park at 

that point, ensuring they could release or harness up the mules while inside the corral. 

A large square boundary of large rocks on the most eastern side of the corral sits next to the entrance 

gate area to the corral.  This feature has a large tent stake on the outside of the north side of the feature.   

It is currently a single ground-level row of large rocks that measures 17 feet cross.  On the northwest, 

southeast, and southwest areas of this circle are three rock-lined entrances into the feature.  The 

entrances are four feet wide.  The northwest entrance was probably outside the corral entrance gate.  By 

using the northwest and southwest entrances, anyone could enter the corral without having to open the 

gate.   This matches with the fence line trace in the satellite imagery.  With this identified, we can see 

the fence line trace runs through the post-military rock structures, further supporting that these were not 

built as part of the military occupation.   A stacked rock wall likely encircled the tent area, but the stones 

from the wall were taken over to the adjacent rock structure after the military departed.  This wall would 

have been about three to four feet high and would have been for the person in charge of constant care 

and maintenance of the mules and horses.  The remnants of a square building of stacked rocks sit 

immediately adjacent to the former corral gate.  It was initially 15 feet square.  This was constructed 

after the military abandoned the camp in 1884.  

A fourth circular line of large stones immediately south of the 

square building feature adds to the confusion of this group of 

features.  This feature is now only a row of stones on the ground, 

and the walls were probably higher when constructed.  Those 

stones were probably also removed to build the square building in 

the post-military period.  It measures 17 feet in diameter and is 

depressed ground in the center.  There is a depression about 14 

inches deep at the center.  The depression suggests this was 

probably a watering area for the animals.  The wall would have 

protected the water source, probably held in a half barrel, from 



 

animals wandering in on their own.  In addition to the depression, a large barrel strap was found very 

close to this feature, which helps support this theory.  During the Company A occupation of this camp, 

the large spring in the canyon was not accessible by wagon since this company was the one working on 

the road to the canyon spring.  Their only water source would have been a small spring in the draw 100 

yards to the northwest and two more spring runoffs in a draw 450 yards to the northeast. 

 

Overhead of corral.  Note fence line runs through stone buildings, which shows they had to have been built 

after the military departed.  (Drone image) 

 

Infantry Company Tent Area:  The area where most of the privatesô tents were set up is north of the 

corral.  This area was laid out in a surveyed block grid format, similar to an area we found at the 1859 

Camp Van Camp expeditionary camp.  Wagons were used to lay out the grid in a surveyed pattern.  The 

company was then assigned grid areas for camping.  Extending from a central point are walking trails.  

Most of those trails head in the directions of the guard posts.  Two of them head in the direction of the 

corral and mess tent.  The trails to guard posts indicate shift reliefs for the guard posts walked from 

camp.   



 

  
Infantry Camp Visible Surveyed Layout with Walking Trails (Google Earth) 

Records show Company A only remained in the area for three months.  No other infantry company 

deployed to this camp after they departed; all subsequent occupants other than the Black Seminole 

Indian Scout were cavalry units.  An infantry company at the time consisted of approximately 60 

privates, a captain, two lieutenants, a sergeant, and several corporals.  As part of their encampment 

requirements, Company A built the guard posts and the corral, later used by the scouts.  As stated 

earlier, their primary mission was to cut a road to the main springs, which had the most abundant water 

source.  Large water barrels carried by wagon would be a requirement for future deployments.  After an 

extensive satellite review of the area, today's same ranch road route is the only reasonable way from the 

camp to the spring in this rugged canyon terrain.  Although the wagon road used the same draw, they 

constructed it slightly differently than the modern ranch road because they needed to use the easiest 

slope possible for the wagons.  They essentially wound the road down the initial draw in a series of S 

curves to cut the angle to a reasonable decline.  The rest of the current ranch road to the spring is mostly 

on top of the old wagon road. 

Infantry Company Guard (Picket/Sentinel) Posts:  Expeditionary infantry companies are laid out to 

hold and protect a territory and, in the process, protect themselves from attack.  Camp Meyers Spring 

was added as an official sub-post to give the cavalry and Black Seminole Indian Scout patrolling units a 

base of operations closer to the trouble spots than they would have had from a garrisoned fort.  It was 

the best clean source of sufficient water for a large camp in the Lower Pecos River area, making it a 

strategically important location.    



 

To maintain the infantry camp and protect themselves, they were required to maintain picket/sentinel 

guard posts surrounding the encampment on a 24-hour basis.  This was a hapless but necessary duty.  

Camp Meyers Spring was no different in this regard, and many guard posts surrounded the camp.  Guard 

posts were usually manned on four-hour shifts.  This was to ensure the guards kept their vigilance.  

Guard posts were also spaced to be within communication distance of each other.  In this case, most 

were between 35 and 100 yards from each other and between 50 and 150 yards from the camp's 

boundary.  This security strategy adheres very closely to the basic principles in a 1907 military primer 

presented for the fourth cadet class of the United States Military Academy. (Marshal and Simonds)  

Wagon tracks can still be seen today in overhead imagery running between guard posts and, in some 

cases, are still visible on the ground.  The layout shows both an outer and inner ring of guard posts.  This 

was a well-thought-out defensive plan, probably because this company had just come from the Dakotas 

and had a very active and aggressive war with the Sioux Nation.  After the infantry company departed, 

these particular guard posts were abandoned.  

 
Guard Posts Surrounding the Infantry Camp (Google Earth) 

As stated earlier, the trails within the infantry tent camp area indicate the shift reliefs to and from the 

guard posts were walking from camp.  Since wagon tracks are still visible in imagery between guard 

posts, this means the wagons were used to deliver ration supply boxes to the guard posts.  Many pieces 

of supply box bands and tin can trash at most of the guard posts support this.  Guard posts consisted of 

large rocks stacked in a semi-circular shape facing the threat, called a redoubt.  This kept the silhouette 

from being exposed, and it was a defensive wall in case of attack.  Guards probably sat on a box.  On 

slopes, the position is built up with smaller rocks and dirt to make a level platform.  In every case, the 



 

large rocks have become deflated from wind and weather over the many years.  Some were swept down 

the hill directly below the former guard post.  It is quite apparent they are not natural to the close 

surrounding area and were brought from nearby creek beds.  Most of the remaining ones are scattered 

within feet of the platform, and large bushes often grow into the site due to the additional soil disturbed 

from the platform construction.  At all the guard posts, we found various amounts of period military 

supply rations and personal trash scattered around the position or washed down the slope directly in 

front of the position.  Much of this was bottle glass and tin cans, mostly óHole And Capô cans. (Busch) 

     

Ration Supply Box Band at Guard Post  

 

Remains Of Defensive Stone Reboubt, Guard Post #9 

These posts are mostly set up on high ground over watch points.  Several guard posts were set up to 

oversee draws that lead up to the camp that would be considered a threat of sneak attack.   



 

 

Example of intact redoubt at Grierson Spring from the same period 

 

 

   

    Remnants of a wagon road between guard posts               Vista View from a Guard Post 

 


